# Notes on the equiconsistency of ZFC without the Power Set axiom and 2nd order PA \*

Vladimir Kanovei<sup>†</sup> Vassily Lyubetsky<sup>‡</sup>

July 17, 2025

#### Abstract

We demonstrate that theories  $\mathbf{Z}^-$ ,  $\mathbf{ZF}^-$ ,  $\mathbf{ZFC}^-$  (minus means the absence of the Power Set axiom) and  $\mathbf{PA}_2$ ,  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$  (minus means the absence of the Countable Choice schema) are equiconsistent to each other. The methods used include the interpretation of a power-less set theory in  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$  via well-founded extensional digraphs, as well as the Gödel constructibility in the said power-less set theory.

<sup>\*</sup>This paper was written under the support of RSF (Grant no 24-44-00099).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup>Institute for Information Transmission Problems (Kharkevich Institute) of Russian Academy of Sciences (IITP), Moscow, Russia, kanovei@iitp.ru

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup>Institute for Information Transmission Problems (Kharkevich Institute) of Russian Academy of Sciences (IITP), Moscow, Russia, lyubetsk@iitp.ru

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>0</sup>MSC 03E25, 03E35, 03F35 (Primary), 03E15 (Secondary).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>0</sup>Keywords: ZF without the PS axiom, second order Peano arithmetic, consistency

# Contents

1	Introduction	
2	Preliminaries: 2nd order arithmetic	
3	Wellfounded digraphs	
4	Isomorphism and rigidity of digraphs	
5	Set theoretic structure of digraphs in 2nd-order PA 6	
6	Several digraph constructions	
7	Assembling digraphs	
8	Preliminaries: power-less set theories	
9	Digraph structure satisfies the intermediate theory	
10	Second reduction: outline	
11	Gödel operations in the intermediate theory	
12	Gödel closures	
13	Definability in Gödel-closed domains	
14	Constructible sets in the intermediate theory	
15	Definability and well-ordering	
16	Subclass <b>L</b> *	
17	Check the schemata	
18	Conclusions and problems	
<u>References</u>		
<u>Index</u>		

### 1 Introduction

The following theorem is **the main result** of this paper.

**Theorem 1.1.** Theories  $PA_2^-$ ,  $PA_2$ ,  $Z^-$ ,  $ZFC^-$ ,  $ZF^-$  are equiconsistent.

Here  $\mathbf{PA}_2$ , resp.,  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$  is 2nd order Peano arithmetic with, resp., without the (countable) AC, whereas  $\mathbf{Z}^-$  is Zermelo set theory without the well-orderability axiom WA, and  $\mathbf{ZFC}^-/\mathbf{ZF}^-$  are Zermelo–Fraenkel set theories with/without WA, and all three of them without the Power Set axiom. (See the exact definitions in Section 8.)

The theorem has been known since at least 1960s, see [10] or [2]. However apparently no self-contained and more or less complete proof has ever been published. (See a brief discussion in [9].) The intent of this paper is to finally present such a proof.

The proof consists in two distinct parts. As the first part, we consider a proxy theory  $\mathbf{FTM}\boldsymbol{\omega}$ , which extends  $\mathbf{Z}^-$  by the existence of finite-subset closures (i.e.,  $y \subseteq X$  finite  $\Longrightarrow y \in X$ ) and transitive closures (which  $\mathbf{Z}^-$  apparently does not prove), the Countability axiom, and an axiom saying that any well-founded and extensional digraph on  $\omega$  admits a transitive model. Clearly  $\mathbf{FTM}\boldsymbol{\omega}$  is a subtheory of  $\mathbf{ZF}^-$  + Countability.

Our first key result is an interpretation of  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$  is  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$ , obtained by using the specified digraphs as the domain of interpretation. This is a well-known method, presented say in [2], and Simpson's book [15].

The second part of the proof presents an interpretation of  $\mathbf{ZFC}^-$  in  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$ , obtained via Gödel constructible sets. The main issue here is that  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$ , albeit pretty sufficient to develop constructibility, does not seem to be strong enough to prove it outright that the whole class  $\mathbf{L}$  satisfies  $\mathbf{ZFC}^-$ . We'll be able only to show that either  $\mathbf{L}$  satisfies  $\mathbf{ZFC}^-$  or so does some  $\mathbf{L}_{\mathcal{E}}$ .

### 2 Preliminaries: 2nd order arithmetic

We recall that second order Peano arithmetic  $\mathbf{PA}_2$  is a theory in the language  $\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{PA}_2)$  with two sorts of variables, for natural numbers and for sets of them.

**Notation 2.1.** We use j, k, m, n for variables over  $\omega$  and x, y, z for variables over  $\mathscr{P}(\omega)$ , reserving capital letters for subsets of  $\mathscr{P}(\omega)$  and other sets.  $\square$ 

The axioms of  $PA_2$  are the Peano axioms for numbers plus the following:

Induction:  $\forall x (0 \in x \land \forall n (n \in x \Longrightarrow n+1 \in x) \Longrightarrow \forall n (n \in x)).$ 

Extensionality for sets:  $\forall x, y \ (\forall k \ (k \in x \iff k \in y) \implies x = y)$ .

Comprehension schema CA:  $\exists x \forall k (k \in x \iff \Phi(k))$  — for every formula  $\Phi$  in which x does not occur, and in  $\Phi$  we allow parameters, that is, free variables other than k.

Countable Choice  $AC_{\omega}$ :  $\forall n \exists x \Phi(n,x) \Longrightarrow \exists x \forall n \Phi(n,(x)_n)$  — for every formula  $\Phi$  with parameters, where  $(x)_n = \{j : \mathbf{b}(n,j) \in x\}$ , and  $\mathbf{b}(n,j) = 2^n(2j+1) - 1$  is a standard bijection  $\omega \times \omega \stackrel{\text{onto}}{\longrightarrow} \omega$ .

The theory  $\mathbf{PA}_2$  is also known as  $A_2$  (see e.g. an early survey [2]), as  $Z_2$  (in [14] or elsewhere). See also [4, 10, 15].

We let  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$  ( $Z_2^-$  in some papers) be  $\mathbf{PA}_2$  without  $\mathsf{AC}_\omega$ .

**Digraph extension.** It can be viewed as a certain disadvantage of  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$  that this theory doesn't explicitly treat such objects as digraphs, or directed graphs on numbers, *i.e.*, basically just subsets of  $\omega \times \omega$ . To fix this shortcoming, we define the extended language  $\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{dPA}_2^-)$  by adjoining the type of variables  $A, B, C, \ldots$  for digraphs, and according elementary formulas of the form j A k, to the standard language  $\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{PA}_2)$  of  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$ . We consider the digraph extension  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$  of  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$  by the following axiom and schemata:

Extensionality for digraphs:  $\forall A, B \ (\forall j, k \ (j \ A \ k \iff j \ B \ k) \implies A = B)$ .

Comprehension for digraphs:  $\exists A \forall j, k (j A k \iff \Phi(j, k))$  — for each formula  $\Phi$  of  $\mathcal{L}(\mathbf{dPA}_2^-)$  with parameters allowed, where A doesn't occur.

**Lemma 2.2.** Theories  $PA_2^-$  and  $dPA_2^-$  are equiconsistent. Theories  $PA_2$  and  $dPA_2$  are equiconsistent as well.

**Proof** (sketch). Arguing in  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$ , let  $\omega$  be the universe of numbers and  $\mathbf{P}$  the universe of sets (subsets of  $\omega$ ). Let  $D_x = \{\langle n, k \rangle : \boldsymbol{b}(n, k) \in x\}$  for  $x \in \mathbf{P}$ . Then the structure  $\mathscr{D} = \langle \omega; \mathbf{P}; \mathbf{D} = \{D_x : x \in \mathbf{P}\}\rangle$  satisfies  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$  by rather standard arguments.

#### 3 Wellfounded digraphs

**Remark 3.1.** We'll consider only digraphs on  $\omega$  here, so that all arguments will be maintained by means of  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$ , the digraph extension of  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$ .

Let A be a digraph (on  $\omega$ ). We'll use the following notation, partially taken from [7, Chap. 6].

- $|A| = \operatorname{dom} A \cup \operatorname{ran} A$ .
- If  $u \in |A|$  then  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(u) = \{j : j \ A \ u\}$ , the extension of u by [7, p. 67], or just the set of all A-elements of u.

- A set  $D \subseteq |A|$  is A-transitive, iff  $k \in D \land j \land k \implies j \in D$ .
- If  $u \in |A|$  then  $\mathbf{Con}_A\{u\}$  consists of all elements  $j \in |A|$  such that there is a finite A-chain  $j = j_0 A j_1 A \dots A j_{K-1} A j_K = u$  in |A| (here  $K \geq 0$ , and we have  $j = u \in \mathbf{Con}_A\{u\}$  in case K = 0). This is the A-lower cone of u in |A|, including u itself.
- $v \in |A|$  is a vertex of A, in symbol  $v = \widehat{A}$ , if  $|A| = \mathbf{Con}_A\{v\}$ .
- $\mathbf{Elm}(A) = \mathbf{Elm}_A(\widehat{A}) \subseteq |A|$  in case  $A \neq \emptyset$ , but  $\mathbf{Elm}(\emptyset) = \emptyset$ .
- If  $X \subseteq |A|$  then  $A \upharpoonright X = A \cap (X \times X)$  is the restriction of A to X.
- If  $u \in |A|$  then  $A \downarrow^{\{u\}} = A \upharpoonright \mathbf{Con}_A\{u\}$  is the *cone restriction* of A to the A-transitive set  $\mathbf{Con}_A\{u\}$ .

# A digraph $A \subseteq \omega \times \omega$ is:

- well-founded, in symbol  $A \in WF$ , if any non-empty set  $X \subseteq |A|$  has an A-minimal element  $a \in X$ , that is,  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(k) \cap X = \emptyset$ ;
- extensional, if  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(u) = \mathbf{Elm}_A(v) \Longrightarrow u = v$  holds for all  $u, v \in |A|$ ;
- vertex, if either  $A = \emptyset$  or there is a unique vertex  $v = \widehat{A} \in |A|$ ;
- $-A \in WFEV$ , if A is well-founded, extensional and vertex;
- $-A \in WFE$ , if A is well-founded and extensional.
- **Remark 3.2.** (a) If  $A \in WF$  then A-cycles do not exist. Indeed if  $u_0 A$   $u_1 A u_2 A \dots A u_n A u_0$  is a cycle then the set  $U = \{u_0, u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n\}$  has no minimal element, contrary to WF. In particular cycles u A u are eliminated.
- (b) Any  $A \in WF$  admits at most one vertex  $\widehat{A}$ : if  $u \neq v$  are vertices then  $u \in \mathbf{Con}_A\{v\}$  and  $v \in \mathbf{Con}_A\{u\}$ , leading to a cycle, contrary to (a).
- (c) If  $\emptyset \neq A \in WFE$  then by WF there is an A-minimal element  $m = \min A \in |A|$  with  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(m) = \emptyset$ , unique by the extensionality of A.
- (d) If  $\emptyset \neq A \in WFE$  then |A| contains at least two distinct elements, since u A u is impossible by (a), in particular, easily  $\widehat{A} \neq \min A$ .
- **Lemma 3.3** (routine). Let  $A \in \text{WFE}$ ,  $c \in |A|$ . Then  $B = A \downarrow^{\{c\}} \in \text{WFEV}$ , and either  $c = \min A$  then  $B = \emptyset$ , or  $c \neq \min A$  then  $c = \widehat{B}$ .
- **Lemma 3.4** (WF induction). Let  $A \in WF$ , H be any set, and the implication  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(u) \subseteq H \Longrightarrow u \in H$  hold for every  $u \in |A|$ . Then  $|A| \subseteq H$ .
- **Proof.** Otherwise the set  $Y = |A| \setminus H \neq \emptyset$  contains a minimal element  $u \in Y$ , so that  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(u) \subseteq H$ . Then  $u \in H$ , which is a contradiction.  $\square$

# 4 Isomorphism and rigidity of digraphs

Let A, B be two digraphs. We write  $A \cong B$  iff there is an A, B-isomorphism, i.e., a bijection  $H: |A| \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} |B|$ , satisfying  $u \ A \ v \iff H(u) \ B \ H(v)$ . In the sequel, we'll use the notation introduced above in Section 3.

**Lemma 4.1** (**dPA**<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, rigidity). Let  $u, v \in |A|$ ,  $A \in WFE$ . Assume that either (i)  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(u) = \mathbf{Elm}_A(v)$ , or (ii)  $A \downarrow^{\{u\}} \cong A \downarrow^{\{v\}}$ . Then u = v.

**Proof.** Case (i) holds by the extensionality of A. To prove case (ii) let  $H: \mathbf{Con}_A\{u\} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{onto}} \mathbf{Con}_A\{v\}$  be an isomorphism. We claim that H(k) = k for all  $k \in D = \mathbf{Con}_A\{u\}$  — then v = H(u) = u, as required. In virtue of Lemma 3.4, we have to show H(k) = k provided (\*) H(j) = j for all  $j \in \mathbf{Elm}_A(k)$ . However (\*) implies  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(k) = \mathbf{Elm}_A(m)$ , where m = H(k). Therefore m = k by the extensionality of A, as required.

**Definition 4.2.** Given two digraphs A, B, define a map  $H_{AB}$  as follows. If  $u \in |A|$ ,  $v \in |B|$ , and  $A \downarrow^{\{u\}} \cong B \downarrow^{\{v\}}$  then put  $H_{AB}(u) = v$ . (This is well-defined since the uniqueness of v holds by Lemma 4.1.)

**Corollary 4.3** (dPA $_2^-$ , of Lemma 4.1). Assume that  $A, B \in \text{WFE}$  are non-empty. Then  $X = \text{dom } H_{AB} \subseteq |A|$  is A-transitive,  $Y = \text{ran } H_{AB} \subseteq |B|$  is B-transitive, and  $H_{AB}$  is a bijection  $X \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} Y$  which witnesses  $A \upharpoonright X \cong B \upharpoonright Y$ , so that  $u \land V \iff H_{AB}(u) \land B \land H_{AB}(v)$ , for all  $u, v \in X$ .

**Lemma 4.4** (dPA $_2^-$ ). Let  $A, B \in WFEV$ . We have  $A \cong B$  provided

$$\forall k \in \mathbf{Elm}(A) \,\exists \, j \in \mathbf{Elm}(B) \, (A \Downarrow^{\{k\}} \cong B \Downarrow^{\{j\}}), \quad and \quad \}$$

$$\forall \, j \in \mathbf{Elm}(B) \,\exists \, k \in \mathbf{Elm}(A) \, (A \Downarrow^{\{k\}} \cong B \Downarrow^{\{j\}}). \quad (1)$$

**Proof.** By (1), the sets  $X = \text{dom } H_{AB} \subseteq |A|$ ,  $Y = \text{ran } H_{AB} \subseteq |B|$  either satisfy X = |A|, Y = |B| — and then  $A \cong B$ , or  $X = |A| \setminus \{u\}$  and  $Y = |B| \setminus \{v\}$ , where  $u = \widehat{A}$ ,  $v = \widehat{B}$ . In the 'or' case,  $H_{AB}$  witnesses  $A \upharpoonright X \cong B \upharpoonright Y$ . Let H' be the extension of  $H_{AB}$  by H'(u) = v. Then H' witnesses that  $A \Downarrow^{\{u\}} \cong B \Downarrow^{\{v\}}$ , hence still  $u \in X$ , which is a contradiction.

# 5 Set theoretic structure of digraphs in 2nd-order PA

Arguing in  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$ , we consider the collection WFEV of all well-founded, extentional, vertex digraphs  $A \subseteq \omega \times \omega$ . Note that the isomorphism relation  $\cong$  between digraphs in WFEV (see Section 4) is naturally formalized in  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$  because partial maps  $\omega \to \omega$  are just digraphs of special kind.

**Definition 5.1** (**dPA**<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>). If  $A, B \in \text{WFEV}$  then define  $A \in B$  iff  $A \cong B \downarrow^{\{k\}}$  for some  $k \in \text{Elm}(B)$ . The set theoretic structure  $\mathbb{S} = \langle \text{WFEV}; \cong, \widetilde{\in} \rangle$  is considered in  $dPA_2^-$ . The truth of an  $\in$ -formula  $\Phi$  (with parameters in WFEV) in  $\mathbb{S}$ , in symbol  $\mathbb{S} \models \ulcorner \Phi \urcorner$ , is understood in the sense of interpreting  $=, \in$  as resp.  $\cong, \widetilde{\in}$ , and relativizing the quantifiers to WFEV.

Note that  $A \cong \emptyset$  fails for each A, whereas  $\emptyset \cong B$  iff  $(\min B) \in \mathbf{Elm}(B)$ .

**Lemma 5.2** (dPA $_2^-$ ).  $\mathbb S$  is a well-defined structure:  $\cong$  is an equivalence relation on WFEV,  $\widetilde \in$  is a binary relation on WFEV invariant w.r.t.  $\cong$ .

**Proof.** To prove the invariance, let  $A, B, C \in \text{WFEV}$  and  $A \cong B \cong C$ . Let bijections  $g: |A| \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} |B|, h: |B| \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} C \downarrow ^{\{k\}}$  witness resp.  $A \cong B, B \cong C$ , where  $k \in \text{Elm}(C)$ . The superposition of g and h witnesses  $A \cong C$ .

**Lemma 5.3** (dPA<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>). Let  $A, B \in WFEV$  and  $u, v \in |B|$ . Then:

- (i)  $B \Downarrow^{\{u\}} \cong B \Downarrow^{\{v\}} iff u = v$  by Lemma 4.1;
- (ii)  $B \downarrow^{\{u\}} \widetilde{\in} B \downarrow^{\{v\}} iff u B v iff u \in \mathbf{Elm}_B(v)$ ;
- (iii)  $A \in B \downarrow^{\{v\}} iff \ A \cong B \downarrow^{\{u\}} for some \ u \in \mathbf{Elm}_B(v)$ ;
- (iv)  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil A \subseteq B \rceil$  iff  $\forall j \in \mathbf{Elm}(A) \exists k \in \mathbf{Elm}(B) (A \Downarrow^{\{j\}} \cong B \Downarrow^{\{k\}});$
- (v)  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil B \text{ is transitive} \rceil$  (see Remark 8.2) iff  $\mathbf{Elm}(B) = |B| \setminus \{v\}$ .

**Proof.** (ii) If  $B \downarrow \{u\} \cong B \downarrow \{v\}$  then  $B \downarrow \{u\} \cong B \downarrow \{w\}$  for some  $w \in \mathbf{Elm}_B(v)$  by Definition 5.1. We conclude by (i) that w = u, as required.

(iii), (iv), (v) Pretty similar arguments are left to the reader.

**Definition 5.4.** Let  $B \in \text{WFEV}$  and  $j_1, \ldots, j_n, p \in |B|$ . If  $\mathbf{Elm}_B(p) = \{j_1, \ldots, j_n\}$  then we write  $p = \{j_1, \ldots, j_n\}_B$  (by extensionality, p is unique if exists). By Kuratowski, put  $\langle j, k \rangle_B = \{\{j, j\}_B, \{j, k\}_B\}_B$ , if defined.  $\square$ 

**Lemma 5.5** (dPA $_2^-$ ). Let  $A,U,V\in {\rm WFEV},\ p\in |A|,\ P=A\Downarrow^{\{p\}}.$  Then:

- (i) if  $j, k \in |A|$  and  $p = \{j, k\}_A$ ,  $U = A \downarrow^{\{j\}}$ ,  $V = A \downarrow^{\{k\}}$ , then  $S \models \Gamma P = \{U, V\}^{\neg}$ , and the same for  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  instead of  $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ ;
- (ii) if  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil P = \{U, V\} \rceil$ , then there exist elements  $j, k \in |A|$  such that  $p = \{j, k\}_A$ ,  $U \cong A \Downarrow^{\{j\}}$ ,  $V \cong A \Downarrow^{\{k\}}$ , and the same for  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ .

**Proof.** A routine extension of Lemma 5.3(i),(ii),(iii).

Coding integers. Define, for any  $n \in \omega$ , a digraph  $\underline{n} \in WFEV$  corresponding to n in  $\mathbb{S}$ , and a digraph  $\omega$  which corresponds to  $\omega$ :

$$\underline{n} = \{\langle 2j, 2k \rangle : j < k \le n\} - \text{ for all } n, \text{ in particular } \underline{0} = \emptyset = 0; 
\omega = \{\langle 2j, 2k \rangle : j < k < \omega\} \cup \{\langle 2j, 1 \rangle : j < \omega\}.$$
(2)

Only even numbers are involved here, hence  $|\omega|$ ,  $|\underline{n}|$  are co-infinite.

**Lemma 5.6** (dPA $_2^-$ , routine).  $\omega \in \text{WFEV}$ ,  $\text{Elm}(\omega) = \{2n : n < \omega\}$ ,  $\widehat{\omega} = 1$ ,  $\omega \downarrow^{\{2n\}} = \underline{n}$  for all n,  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \omega = \{\text{all natural numbers}\} \rceil$ .

Each digraph  $\underline{n}$  belongs to WFEV,  $k < n \iff \underline{k} \approx \underline{n}$ .

If 
$$n < \omega$$
 then  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \underline{n} \text{ is the number } 1 + \ldots + 1 \rceil$  (n times 1).

# 6 Several digraph constructions

We'll use these constructions in our study of the structure of  $\mathbb{S}$  in  $dPA_2^-$ . We begin with **bijective images**.

**Lemma 6.1** (dPA $_2^-$ ). (i) Let  $A \in WFEV$ . If  $f : |A| \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} Z \subseteq \omega$  is 1–1 then  $f[A] = \{\langle f(j), f(k) \rangle : j \land k\} \in WFEV$ ,  $|f[A| = Z, A \cong f[A]$  via f.

- (ii) If  $A \cong B$  via  $H: |A| \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} |B|$  then  $H[\mathbf{Elm}(A)] = \mathbf{Elm}(B)$ , and if  $x \in \mathbf{Elm}(A)$  and  $y = H(x) \in \mathbf{Elm}(B)$  then  $H[A \downarrow \downarrow^{\{x\}}] = B \downarrow \downarrow^{\{y\}}$ .
  - (iii) There is a 1-1 map  $f: |A| \to \omega$  such that |f[A]| is co-infinite in  $\omega$ .

**Proof.** To prove (iii) put 
$$f(k) = 2k$$
 for all  $k \in |A|$ .

**Multi-restriction.** The operation  $A \downarrow \downarrow^{\{u\}}$  as in Section 3 can be somewhat generalized as follows. If  $A \in \text{WFEV}$ ,  $v = \widehat{A}$ ,  $\emptyset \neq X \subseteq |A|$ , then put

$$A \Downarrow X = \bigcup_{j \in X} A \Downarrow^{\{j\}} \cup (X \times \{v\}). \tag{3}$$

Corollary 6.2 (dPA<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, of Lemma 5.3). Let  $A \in \text{WFEV}$ ,  $\varnothing \neq X \subseteq |A|$ . Then  $B = A \Downarrow X \in \text{WFEV}$ , still  $\widehat{B} = \widehat{A}$ ,  $|B| = \bigcup_{j \in X} \text{Con}_A\{j\} \bigcup \{\widehat{B}\}$ , X = Elm(B), and  $A \Downarrow^{\{k\}} = B \Downarrow^{\{k\}}$  for all  $k \in |B| \setminus \{\widehat{B}\}$ .

In addition, if  $X \subseteq \mathbf{Elm}(A)$  then  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil B \subseteq A \rceil$  by Lemma 5.3(iv).  $\square$ 

**Finite-closure.** Say that a digraph  $A \in \text{WFEV}$  is *finite-closed*, if for any  $j_1, \ldots, j_n \in |A| \setminus \{\widehat{A}\}$  there is an element  $\{j_1, \ldots, j_n\}_A \in |A| \setminus \{\widehat{A}\}$  (in terms of Definition 5.4). Then  $\langle j, k \rangle_A = \{\{j, j\}_A, \{j, k\}_A\}_A \in |A| \setminus \{\widehat{A}\}$  exists as well. The following is routine by Lemmas 5.3, 5.5

**Lemma 6.3** (**dPA**<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>). If a digraph  $A \in WFEV$  is finite-closed then  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil A \text{ is a finite-closed set: } \forall x_1, \ldots, x_n \in A(\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\} \in A) \rceil$ .  $\square$ 

**Lemma 6.4** (dPA $_2^-$ ). If  $\emptyset \neq A \in WFEV$ ,  $|A| \subseteq \omega$  is co-infinite, and  $v = \widehat{A}$ , then there is a finite-closed digraph  $B \in WFEV$  satisfying:

- (i)  $A \subseteq B$  (hence  $|A| \subseteq |B|$ ), still  $v = \widehat{B}$ , and  $\mathbf{Elm}_B(v) = |B| \setminus \{v\}$ ;
- (ii) if  $k \in |A| \setminus \{v\}$  then  $B \downarrow^{\{k\}} = A \downarrow^{\{k\}}$ .

**Proof.** Consider any  $j_1, \ldots, j_n \in |A| \setminus \{v\}$ . If  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(k) = \{j_1, \ldots, j_n\}$  for some  $k \in |A| \setminus \{v\}$  then let  $A' = A \cup ((|A| \setminus \{v\}) \times \{v\})$ .

If there is no such k then take any  $k \notin |A|$  not yet involved and put

$$A' = A \cup (\{j_1, \dots, j_n\} \times \{k\}) \cup \{\langle k, v \rangle\} \cup ((|A| \setminus \{v\}) \times \{v\}).$$

In both cases,  $A' \in \text{WFEV}$ ,  $\mathbf{Elm}_{A'}(k) = \{j_1, \dots, j_n\}$ , and still  $v = \widehat{A'}$ . As  $|A| \subseteq \omega$  is co-infinite, properly iterating this procedure ( $\omega$  steps) in  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$  yields a finite-closed digraph  $B \in \text{WFEV}$  satisfying (i),(ii).

# 7 Assembling digraphs

The next lemma will allow us to combine a pair of digraphs in a single digraph. Recall Definition 5.4.

**Lemma 7.1** (**dPA**<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>). Let  $A, B \in \text{WFEV}$ . There is a digraph  $P \in \text{WFEV}$ , such that |P| is co-infinite,  $\mathbf{Elm}(P) = \{a,b\}$ ,  $A \cong P \Downarrow^{\{a\}}$ ,  $B \cong P \Downarrow^{\{b\}}$ —note that then  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil P = \{A,B\} \rceil$ .

**Proof.** We can w.l.o.g. assume from the beginning that

(\*) |A| is co-infinite,  $|B| \cap |A| = \emptyset$ , and  $|B| \cup |A|$  is still co-infinite.

Indeed, if |A| is not co-infinite, then replace A with  $f[A] \cong A$ , where f(k) = 2k,  $\forall k$ . Then replace B with  $g[B] \cong B$ , where g(k) = 4k + 1,  $\forall k$ . Now, if  $A = B = \emptyset$  then  $P = \{\langle 0, 1 \rangle\}$  works with a = b = 0.

If  $B = \emptyset$ ,  $A \neq \emptyset$ ,  $a = \widehat{A}$ ,  $b = \min A$ , and  $p \notin |A|$  is arbitrary, then  $P = A \cup \{\langle a, p \rangle, \langle b, p \rangle\}$  works. Ditto  $A = \emptyset$ ,  $B \neq \emptyset$ .

Consider the main case:  $A, B \neq \emptyset$  and (\*) holds. Put  $a = \widehat{A}$ ,  $b = \widehat{B}$ .

We may try to define  $P = A \cup B \cup \{\langle a, c \rangle, \langle b, c \rangle\}$ , where  $c \notin |A| \cup |B|$ —so that  $\widehat{P} = c$  and  $\mathbf{Elm}(P) = \{a, b\}$ . Yet this does not immediately work since such a digraph P is not necessarily extensional.

To fix this obstacle, let's employ the bijection  $H = H_{BA}$  (Definition 4.2) to identify H-connected elements. Let  $Y = \operatorname{dom} H$  and  $X = \operatorname{ran} H$  (transitive subsets of resp. |B|, |A| by Corollary 4.3, disjoint by (\*)). Define a bijection  $h: |B| \xrightarrow{\operatorname{onto}} W = (|B| \setminus Y) \cup X$  by

$$h(v) = \begin{cases} H(v), & \text{in case} \quad v \in Y, \\ v, & \text{in case} \quad v \in |B| \setminus Y. \end{cases}$$

Let B' = h[B] be the h-image of B, so that  $v' B v \iff h(v) B' h(v')$ . Then  $B' \in \text{WFEV}$ , |B'| = W,  $B \cong B'$ . Note that the digraphs B' and A coincide on the common domain  $|B'| \cap |A| = X$ , which is a transitive subset in both |B'| and |A|, whereas  $(|A| \setminus X) \cap (|B'| \setminus X) = \emptyset$  by (\*) above. Therefore if  $u \in |B'|$  then  $\mathbf{Elm}_{B'}(u) \subseteq |B'|$  (i. e., all B'-elements of u belong to B'), and similarly, if  $u \in |A|$  then  $\mathbf{Elm}_A(u) \subseteq |A|$ .

We claim that the digraph  $Q = A \cup B'$  is extensional.

Assume that  $u, v \in |Q|$  and  $\mathbf{Elm}_Q(u) = \mathbf{Elm}_Q(v)$ ; prove u = v.

If  $u, v \in |B'|$  then  $\mathbf{Elm}_Q(u) = \mathbf{Elm}_{B'}(u)$  and  $\mathbf{Elm}_Q(v) = \mathbf{Elm}_{B'}(v)$  by the above; now the extensionality of B' implies u = v. Ditto  $u, v \in |A|$ .

Now assume  $v \in |B'| \setminus X = |B| \setminus Y$  and  $u \in |A| \setminus X$ . Then  $\mathbf{Elm}_Q(v) = \mathbf{Elm}_{B'}(v) \subseteq |B'|$  and  $\mathbf{Elm}_Q(u) = \mathbf{Elm}_A(u) \subseteq |A|$ . Therefore, as  $\mathbf{Elm}_Q(u) = \mathbf{Elm}_Q(v)$ , we have  $\mathbf{Elm}_Q(u) = \mathbf{Elm}_Q(v) \subseteq |B'| \cap |A| = X$ , and hence the corresponding transitive closures are included to X except for their vertices, i.e.  $\mathbf{Con}_{B'}\{v\} \setminus \{v\} = \mathbf{Con}_A\{u\} \setminus \{u\} \subseteq X$ . Thus  $B' \downarrow \{v\} \cong A \downarrow \{u\}$  via the map sending v to u and identical on the common part  $\mathbf{Con}_{B'}\{v\} \setminus \{v\} = \mathbf{Con}_A\{u\} \setminus \{u\}$ . It follows that  $B \downarrow \{v\} \cong A \downarrow \{u\}$ , hence  $u \in X$ ,  $v \in Y$  by construction. But this contradicts the choice of u, v. The contradiction ends the proof of the extensionality of Q. We conclude that  $Q \in \mathrm{WFE}$ .

Finally note that |Q| is co-infinite by (\*). Let  $c = \min(\omega \setminus |Q|)$  and  $P = Q \cup \{\langle a, c \rangle, \langle b', c \rangle\} \in \text{WFEV}$ , where b' = h(b). Then  $\widehat{P} = c = \{a, b'\}_P$ ,  $\text{Elm}(P) = \{a, b'\}$ ,  $A = P \bigcup^{\{a\}}$ , and  $B \cong P \bigcup^{\{b'\}}$  by construction.

Corollary 7.2 (dPA $_2^-$ ). Let  $A, B \in \text{WFEV}$ . There is a finite-closed digraph  $P \in \text{WFEV}$  and  $a, b \in \text{Elm}(P)$ , such that  $\text{Elm}(P) = |P| \setminus \{\widehat{P}\}$ , and  $A \cong P \downarrow \{a\}$ ,  $B \cong P \downarrow \{b\}$  — that is,  $A, B \cong P$ .

**Proof.** Lemma 7.1 yields  $Q \in \text{WFEV}$  with  $A \cong Q \downarrow^{\{a\}}, B \cong Q \downarrow^{\{b\}},$   $a, b \in \text{Elm}(Q)$ . Use Lemma 6.4 to extend Q to a digraph P required.  $\square$ 

The next lemma extends the constructions above to represent functions from the ground  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$  universe in  $\mathbb{S}$ .

**Lemma 7.3** (dPA<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>). Assume that  $A, B \in WFEV$ , X = Elm(A), Y = Elm(B), and  $f: X \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} Y$ . Then there is a digraph  $F \in WFEV$  such that:

- (i)  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil F \text{ is a map } A \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} B \rceil$ , and if f is 1–1 then  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil F \text{ is } 1-1 \rceil$ ;
- (ii) if  $x \in X$  and  $y = f(x) \in Y$  then  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil F(U) = V \rceil$ , where  $U = A \bigcup_{\{x\}} \widetilde{\in} A$ ,  $V = B \bigcup_{\{y\}} \widetilde{\in} B$ .

**Proof.** By Corollary 7.2, there is a finite-closed digraph  $P \in \text{WFEV}$  and  $a, b \in \text{Elm}(P)$ , such that  $A \cong P \downarrow^{\{a\}}$ ,  $B \cong P \downarrow^{\{b\}}$ . Lemma 6.1(ii) implies that the claim of the theorem is  $\cong$ -invariant, hence we can w.l.o.g. assume that simply  $A = P \downarrow^{\{a\}}$ ,  $B = P \downarrow^{\{b\}}$ . Then  $X = \text{Elm}_P(a)$ ,  $Y = \text{Elm}_P(b)$ .

Put  $W = \{\langle x, f(x) \rangle_P : x \in X\}$  (Definition 5.4). The digraph  $F = P \downarrow W$  belongs to WFEV by Corollary 6.2. We claim that F is as required.

Indeed assume that  $C \in \text{WFEV}$ ,  $C \cong F$ . Then  $C \cong F \Downarrow^{\{z\}} = P \Downarrow^{\{z\}}$  for some  $z \in \text{Elm}(F) = W$  by Corollary 6.2. By construction  $z = \langle x, f(x) \rangle_P$  for some  $x \in X$ , hence  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil C = \langle U, V \rangle \rceil$  by Lemma 5.5(i), where  $U = P \Downarrow^{\{x\}}$ ,  $V = P \Downarrow^{\{f(x)\}}$ . However  $U \cong A$  since  $x \in X = \text{Elm}(A)$ , and  $V \cong B$  by similar reasons. We conclude that  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil F \subseteq A \times B$  is a function  $\mathbb{S}$ .

Conversely let  $U \in A'$ , thus  $U \cong A \Downarrow^{\{x\}} = P \Downarrow^{\{x\}}$  for some  $x \in X$ . Then  $z = \langle x, f(x) \rangle_P \in W$ , hence  $C = P \Downarrow^{\{z\}} \in F$  and  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil C = \langle U, V \rangle \rceil$  by Lemma 5.5, where  $V = P \Downarrow^{\{f(x)\}}$ . We conclude that  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \operatorname{dom} F = A \rceil$ , and  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \operatorname{ran} F = B \rceil$  because  $\operatorname{ran} f = Y$ .

#### 8 Preliminaries: power-less set theories

The power-less set theory **ZFC**<sup>-</sup> is a subtheory of **ZFC** obtained so that:

- (I) the Power Set axiom PS is excluded the upper minus in **ZFC**<sup>-</sup> symbolizes the absence of PS;
- (II) the usual set-theoretic Axiom of Choice AC of **ZFC** is removed (as it does not work properly without PS), and instead the *well-orderability* axiom WA is added, which claims that every set can be well-ordered;
- (III) Separation Sep is preserved, but the Replacement schema Repl (too weak in the absence of PS) is substituted with the Collection schema:

$$\mathsf{Coll}: \ \forall X \ \big( \forall \, x \in X \, \exists \, y \, \Phi(x,y) \implies \exists \, Y \, \forall \, x \in X \, \exists \, y \in Y \, \Phi(x,y) \big) \, .$$

Note that  $Coll + Sep \implies Repl.$ 

See [1, 5, 6] for a comprehensive account of main features of **ZFC** $^-$ .

See [7], [16], [3, Sect. 2] or elsewhere for different but equivalent formulations of Collection, as e.g. the following form in [7, Chap. 6]:

Coll': 
$$\forall X \exists Y \forall x \in X (\exists y \varphi(x, y) \Longrightarrow \exists y \in Y \varphi(x, y)).$$

This is apparently stronger than Coll above, yet in fact Coll' is a consequence of Coll, for let  $\Phi(x,y) := \varphi(x,y) \vee (y=0 \land \neg \exists y \varphi(x,y))$  in Coll.

- **ZF**<sup>-</sup> is **ZFC**<sup>-</sup> without the well-orderability axiom WA; **Z**<sup>-</sup> is **ZF**<sup>-</sup> without the Collection schema Coll.
- **Definition 8.1.** Now we introduce a useful intermediate theory. Let  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$  be defined as  $\mathbf{Z}^-$  plus the following four additional axioms:

Finite-closure, FinClo: for any set X there is a *finite-closed* superset  $Y \supseteq X$ , i.e., it is required that if  $x \subseteq Y$  is finite then  $x \in Y$ ;

Transitive superset, TrSups: for any X there is a transitive superset  $Y \supseteq X$ .

Countability:  $\forall x \exists f (f : \omega \text{ onto } x), i.e., \text{ every set } x \text{ is at most countable.}$ 

- Mostowski Collapse, MostColl: any digraph  $A \in \text{WFE}$  admits a transitive set X and a bijection  $\mu : |A|$  onto X, satisfying (\*) j A k iff  $\mu(j) \in \mu(k)$ , for all  $j, k \in |A|$ .
- **Remark 8.2** (**Z**<sup>-</sup>). (1) X is transitive if  $\forall x \forall y (x \in y \in X \Longrightarrow x \in X)$ .
- (2) If a set X is *finite-closed* as in FinClo then X also is closed under ordered pairs  $\langle x, y \rangle$  and generally tuples  $\langle x_1, \dots, x_n \rangle$  of any length.
- (3) The transitive closure TC(X), resp., the finite closure FC(X), of X is the  $\subseteq$ -least transitive, resp., finite-closed superset  $Y \supseteq X$  (if exists).
- (4) Dealing with digraphs A in WFE etc. in set-theoretic environment, we'll not assume that  $A \subseteq \omega \times \omega$  by default. We'll explicitly indicate this assumption whenever need be.

 ${\bf Proposition~8.3~(not~used~below).~FTM} \boldsymbol{\omega} \subseteq {\bf ZF}^- + {\sf Countability}. \hspace{1cm} \square$ 

See e.g. [7, Theorem 6.15] for a proof of MostColl in **ZF**.

**Lemma 8.4** (FTM $\omega$ ). For any set X, the finite-closure FC(X) and the transitive closure TC(X) do exist.

**Proof.** The axiom FinClo implies that there is a finite-closed superset  $Y \supseteq X$ . Then  $FC(X) = \{y \in Y : \pi(y)\}$  is a set by Separation, where  $\pi(y)$  says:

there is a finite tree T with the root  $\Lambda$ , and a function  $f: T \to Y$ , such that  $f(t) \in X$  for all terminal nodes  $t \in T$ ,  $f(t) = \{f(t_1), \ldots, f(t_n)\}$  for each non-terminal node t with successors  $t_1, \ldots, t_n$ , and  $f(\Lambda) = y$ .

Accordingly,  $TC(X) = \{y \in Y : \tau(y)\}$  is a set, where  $Y \supseteq X$  is a transitive superset and  $\tau(y)$  says: there is a finite sequence  $y = y_n \in y_{n-1} \in ... \in y_1 \in y_0 \in X$  of sets  $y_i \in Y$ . (Including the case n = 0 and  $y \in X$ .)

**Lemma 8.5** (FTM $\omega$ ). Let U, V, be any sets. Then  $U \times V$  is a set.

**Proof.**  $X = U \cup V = \bigcup \{U, V\}$  is a set by  $\mathbf{Z}^-$ . If  $Y \supseteq X$  is a finite-closed superset then easily  $U \times V \subseteq Y$  is a set by Separation.

Thus  $\mathbf{FTM}\boldsymbol{\omega}$  proves the existence of Cartesian products. Note that  $\mathbf{Z}^-$  does not prove even the existence of  $\omega \times \omega$ !

# 9 Digraph structure satisfies the intermediate theory

In this section, theory  $\mathbf{FTM}\boldsymbol{\omega}$  is interpreted in the digraph second order arithmetic  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$  by means of the structure  $\mathbb{S} = \langle \mathrm{WFEV}; \cong, \widetilde{\in} \rangle$ . This is a version of the interpretation defined in [2], § 5, especially Theorem 5.11, or in [15], Definition VII.3.10 ff, or elsewhere. Kreisel [10], VI(a)(ii), attributed this and similar interpretations to the type of *crude* results.

**Theorem 9.1** (dPA $_2^-$ ). The structure  $\mathbb{S}$  satisfies FTM $\omega$ .

**Proof.**  $\mathbb{S}$  is a well-defined structure by Lemma 5.2.

**Arguing in dPA\_2^-**, let us check all the relevant axioms.

Extensionality. Given digraphs  $A, B \in \text{WFEV}$  satisfying  $C \in A \iff C \in B$  for all  $C \in \text{WFEV}$ , we easily get (1) of Lemma 4.4, and then  $A \cong B$ .

Regularity. Given a digraph  $A \in \text{WFEV}$ , let X = Elm(A). As A is extensional, there is  $k \in X$  such that  $\neg (j A k)$  holds for all  $j \in X$ . The digraph  $B = A \downarrow \{k\}$  then satisfies  $B \in A$ , and at the same time A, B have no common  $\in$ -elements, as required.

Infinity. Make use of  $\omega \in WFEV$  and Lemma 5.6.

Separation. Assume that  $A \in \text{WFEV}$ , X = Elm(A), and  $\Phi(x)$  is an  $\in$ -formula with parameters in WFEV and x as the only free variable. Digraphs of the form  $A_u = A \bigcup^{\{u\}}$ ,  $u \in X$ , belong to  $\mathbb S$  and are the only (modulo  $\cong$ )  $\in$ -elements of A in  $\mathbb S$ . Now let  $Y = \{u \in X : \mathbb S \models \lceil \Phi(A \bigcup^{\{u\}}) \rceil \}$ . Then  $B = A \bigcup Y \in \text{WFEV}$  by Corollary 6.2, and  $\mathbb S \models \lceil B = \{x \in A : \Phi(x)\} \rceil$ .

Indeed assume that  $C \in \text{WFEV}$ ,  $C \cong A$ , and  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \Phi(C) \rceil$ . Then  $C \cong A \downarrow^{\{u\}}$  for some  $u \in X$ , by Lemma 5.3, so that  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \Phi(A \downarrow^{\{u\}}) \rceil$ , and

hence  $u \in Y$ . It follows that  $C \cong B \downarrow^{\{u\}} = A \downarrow^{\{u\}}$ , and finally  $C \in B$ . The proof of the inverse implication is similar.

Pair. Make use of Lemma 7.1 and Lemma 5.5.

Finite-closure, FinClo (Definition 8.1). Use Lemmas 6.4, 6.3.

Transitive superset. To prove TrSups of Definition 8.1, let  $A \in \text{WFEV}$ ,  $v = \widehat{A}$ . We define  $B = A \cup \{\langle u, v \rangle : u \in |A| \setminus \{v\}\}$ . Then  $B \in \text{WFEV}$  and  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil A \subseteq B$  and B is transitive by Lemma 5.3(iv),(v).

Countability. Let  $B \in \text{WFEV}$  and Y = Elm(B). We consider the digraph  $\omega$  satisfying Lemma 5.6, in particular  $\text{Elm}(\omega) = \{2n : n < \omega\}$ , hence there is a map  $f : \text{Elm}(\omega) \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} Y$ . By Lemma 7.3, there is a digraph  $F \in \text{WFEV}$  such that  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil F \text{ is a map } \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} B \rceil$ , and hence  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil B \text{ is at most countable} \rceil$ .

Now MostColl of Definition 8.1. Suppose that  $A \in WFE$ ,  $u = \widehat{A}$ , and

1\*.  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil A \in \text{WFE} \rceil$ , thus A is a digraph which codes a digraph in  $\mathbb{S}$ .

In particular  $\mathbb{S} \models \neg A$  consists of ordered pairs $\neg$ . It follows by Definition 5.1 and Lemma 5.5(ii) that for each  $p \in \mathbf{Elm}(A)$  there are (unique) elements  $j = j_p$  and  $k = k_p$  in |A| such that  $p = \langle j, k \rangle_A$ . Consider the digraph

$$E = \{\langle j_p, k_p \rangle : p \in \mathbf{Elm}(A)\}$$

$$= \{\langle j, k \rangle \in |A| \times |A| : \langle j, k \rangle_A \text{ exists and belongs to } \mathbf{Elm}(A)\}$$

$$= \{\langle j, k \rangle \in |A| \times |A| : \\ \mathbb{S} \models \lceil \langle J, K \rangle \in A \rceil, \text{ where } J = A \Downarrow^{\{j\}}, K = A \Downarrow^{\{k\}}\} \}$$

$$(4)$$

in our ground  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$  universe. (Lemma 5.5 is used to deduce the last equality in (4) from the 2nd one.) Put  $X = |E| = \bigcup_{p \in \mathbf{Elm}(A)} \{j_p, k_p\} \subseteq |A|$ , and

$$R = A \downarrow X = \bigcup_{n \in X} (A \downarrow^{\{n\}}) \cup (X \times \{u\}), \tag{5}$$

so that  $R \in \text{WFEV}$ ,  $A \downarrow \{n\} = R \downarrow \{n\}$  for all  $n \in X$ ,  $u = \widehat{R}$ , X = Elm(R) — by Corollary 6.2, and clearly (\*)  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil R = |A| \rceil$  by construction. (Claim (\*) absolutely does not imply R = |A| in the ground  $\mathbf{dPA}_2^-$  universe.)

We claim that  $E \in \text{WFE}$  (not necessarily  $\in \text{WFEV}$ ). Indeed to see that E is WF, suppose that  $\varnothing \neq Y \subseteq X = |E|$ . Then  $Q = A \Downarrow Y \in \text{WFEV}$ ,  $A \Downarrow^{\{n\}} = Q \Downarrow^{\{n\}}$  for all  $n \in Y$ , still  $u = \widehat{Q}$ ,  $Y = \mathbf{Elm}_R(u)$ , and  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil Q \subseteq R \rceil$ , by Corollary 6.2. We conclude by  $1^*$  that some  $m \in Y$  satisfies:

$$\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \langle A \downarrow \rangle^{\{n\}}, A \downarrow \rangle^{\{m\}} \notin A \rceil$$
, or equivalently by (4),  $\langle n, m \rangle \notin E$ ,

for all  $n \in Y$ . This proves the WF property of E.

Similar arguments prove that E is extensional. Thus indeed  $E \in \text{WFE}$ . Note that  $X = |E| \subseteq |A| \setminus \{u\}$ . Consider the extended digraph  $\mathcal{E} = E \cup (|E| \times \{u\})$ ;  $\mathcal{E} \in \text{WFEV}$  with vertex  $\widehat{\mathcal{E}} = u$ ,  $\text{Elm}(\mathcal{E}) = X$ , and  $|\mathcal{E}| = X \cup \{u\}$ . Note that  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \mathcal{E} \text{ is transitive} \rceil$  by Lemma 5.3(v).

Now let f(x) = x for all  $x \in X = \mathbf{Elm}(R) = \mathbf{Elm}(\mathcal{E})$ . By Lemma 7.3, there is a digraph  $F \in \mathrm{WFEV}$  such that:

- $2^*$ .  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil F \text{ is a bijection } R \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \mathcal{E} \rceil$ .
- 3\*. If  $x \in X$  then  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil F(J) = U \rceil$ , where  $J = R \downarrow \{x\}$ ,  $U = \mathcal{E} \downarrow \{x\}$ .

**Lemma 9.2.**  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \forall J, K \in R \left( J \land K \iff F(J) \in F(K) \right) \rceil$ .

**Proof.** Indeed let  $J, K \in \text{WFEV}$ , and suppose that  $J, K \cong R$ . By definition (5) this implies  $J \cong A \downarrow \{j\}$  and  $K \cong A \downarrow \{k\}$  for some  $j, k \in X$ . We also put  $U = \mathcal{E} \downarrow \{j\}$  and  $V = \mathcal{E} \downarrow \{k\}$ , so that  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil F(J) = U \land F(K) = V \rceil$  by  $\mathbb{S}^*$ . The goal is to prove  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil (J \land K) \iff (U \in V) \rceil$ .

We may note that  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil J \ A \ K \rceil$  is equivalent to  $\langle j, k \rangle \in E$  by (4), whereas  $\mathbb{S} \models \lceil U \in V \rceil$  is equivalent to  $U \in V$ , and then to  $\langle j, k \rangle \in \mathcal{E}$  by Lemma 5.3(ii). Thus the goal can be rewritten as the equivalence  $(\langle j, k \rangle \in E) \iff (\langle j, k \rangle \in \mathcal{E})$ . But the equivalence is obvious since  $\mathcal{E}$  extends E by an irrelevant element (the vertex).  $\square$  (Lemma)

We conclude from  $2^*$ ,  $3^*$ , and Lemma 9.2 that  $\mathbb{S} \models$ 

 $\ulcorner \text{the transitive set } \mathcal{E} \text{ and } F : R = |A| \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \mathcal{E} \text{ witness MostColl for } A \urcorner.$ 

This completes the proof of the axiom MostColl of Definition 8.1 in  $\mathbb{S}$ , and subsequently Theorem 9.1 as a whole.  $\Box$  (Theorem 9.1)

Corollary 9.3. Theories  $PA_2^-$ ,  $dPA_2^-$ ,  $FTM\omega$  are equiconsistent.

**Proof.** Use Theorem 9.1 and Lemma 2.2.

Remark 9.4. Under the full  $\mathbf{PA}_2$  (with  $\mathsf{AC}_\omega$ ), the structure  $\mathbb S$  accordingly satisfies Collection, in addition to  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$ , that is, satisfies  $\mathbf{ZFC}^-$ . To prove this extension, one has to establish suitable generalizations of Lemma 7.1 and Corollary 7.2 for infinite sequences of digraphs in WFEV instead of just pairs A, B of them. It follows that the equiconsistency of  $\mathbf{PA}_2$  and  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$  is pretty sufficient for Theorem 1.1 as a whole. However we don't know how to prove the equiconsistency of  $\mathbf{PA}_2$  and  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$  without making use of structures similar to  $\mathbb S$  and corresponding set theories, explicit or implicit.  $\square$ 

### 10 Second reduction: outline

Corollary 9.3 is the first part of the proof of Theorem 1.1. The remainder of the proof involves the ideas and technique of Gödel's constructibility, and the goal will be the equiconsistency of  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$  and  $\mathbf{ZF}^-$ .

We may note that the  $\mathbf{FTM}\boldsymbol{\omega}$  ordinals are no less rich than the  $\mathbf{ZF}^-$  ordinals, in particular, any countable well-ordering is isomorphic to an ordinal by MostColl of Definition 8.1. (On the contrary, theory  $\mathbf{Z}^-$  does not even prove the existence of  $\omega + \omega$ .) Thus we may hope that the constructible sets behave in  $\mathbf{FTM}\boldsymbol{\omega}$  similar to those in  $\mathbf{ZF}^-$ . And indeed the class  $\mathbf{L} = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \mathrm{Ord}} \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  of all Gödel-constructible sets is well-defined in  $\mathbf{FTM}\boldsymbol{\omega}$  and has a number of general properties known from  $\mathbf{ZF}$  or  $\mathbf{ZF}^-$  mutatis mutandis, of course.

The final goal of the remainder will be the following theorem.

**Theorem 10.1** (FTM $\omega$ ). Class L or one of L $_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha$  limit, satisfies ZFC $^{-}$ .

It is immediately clear that, by Corollary 9.3, **Theorem 10.1 implies** the equiconsistency result of Theorem 1.1. However Theorem 10.1 has the additional advantage of giving a transitive standard (i. e., with the true membership) model  $\mathbf{L}$  or  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  of  $\mathbf{ZFC}^{-}$  within  $\mathbf{FTM}\boldsymbol{\omega}$ , a theory that only rather mildly extends  $\mathbf{Z}^{-}$  + Countability.

The next lemma will be useful in the course of the proof of the theorem. Let a *class-function* be a (definable) class which satisfies the standard definition of a function (e.g., consists of ordered pairs, etc.).

**Lemma 10.2** (FTM $\omega$ ). If F is a class-function, X = dom F any set, and the image  $R = F[X] = \{F(x) : x \in X\}$  is transitive then R and F are sets.

**Proof.** By Countability we can w.l.o.g. assume that  $X \subseteq \omega$ . We can also assume that  $F \upharpoonright X$  is 1–1, for otherwise replace X by the set

$$X' = \{k \in X : \forall j \in X (j < k \Longrightarrow F(j) \neq F(k))\}.$$

Then the digraph  $A = \{\langle j, k \rangle : j, k \in X \land F(j) \in F(k)\}$  is WFE as isomorphic to  $\in \upharpoonright R$ . On the other hand, by **FTM** $\omega$ , A is isomorphic to  $\in \upharpoonright Y$  where Y is a transitive *set*. It follows that Y and R are  $\in$  isomorphic, and hence R = Y is a set. Finally  $F \upharpoonright X \subseteq X \times R$  is a set by Separation.

Note the role of the axiom of Countability in the proof. It is an open question whether the lemma holds in  $FTM\omega$  sans Countability.

# 11 Gödel operations in the intermediate theory

**Definition 11.1** (FTM $\omega$ ). Consider the following list of Gödel operations.

$$\begin{array}{lll} \mathcal{F}_{0}(x,y) & = & \{x,y\}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{1}(x,y) & = & x \times y, \\ \mathcal{F}_{2}(x,y) & = & x \setminus y, \\ \mathcal{F}_{3}(x,y) & = & \mathrm{dom}\,x = \{u \colon \exists\,v\,(\langle u,v\rangle \in x)\}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{4}(x,y) & = & \{\langle u,v\rangle \in x \colon u \in v\}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{5}(x,y) & = & \{\langle a,b,c\rangle \colon \langle b,c,a\rangle \in x\}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{6}(x,y) & = & \{\langle a,b,c\rangle \colon \langle c,b,a\rangle \in x\}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{7}(x,y) & = & \{\langle a,b,c\rangle \colon \langle a,c,b\rangle \in x\}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{8}(x,y) & = & x \cup y, \\ \mathcal{F}_{9}(x,y) & = & \{\langle u,v\rangle \in x \colon u = v\}. \end{array}$$

Operations  $\mathcal{F}_0 - \mathcal{F}_7$  are copied from [8, Sect. 10] whereas  $\mathcal{F}_8$  and  $\mathcal{F}_9$  are added for technical reasons. Note that  $\mathcal{F}_3 - \mathcal{F}_7$  and  $\mathcal{F}_9$  are unary operations; we treat them as binary to ensure the uniformity of processing.

**Lemma 11.2** (FTM $\omega$ ). If x, y are sets and  $i \leq 9$  then  $\mathcal{F}_i(x, y)$  is a set.

**Proof.**  $\mathcal{F}_0(x,y) = \{x,y\}$  is a set by the  $\mathbf{Z}^-$  Pair axiom.

 $\mathcal{F}_1(x,y) = x \times y$  is a set, see Lemma 8.5.

 $\mathcal{F}_2(x,y) = x \setminus y = \{a \in x : a \notin y\}$  is a set by Separation. Ditto  $\mathcal{F}_4$ .

 $\mathcal{F}_8(x,y) = \bigcup \{x,y\}$ , and use the Pair and Union axioms.

 $\mathcal{F}_3(x,y) = \operatorname{dom} x \subseteq Y$ , where  $Y \supseteq x$  is any transitive superset (axiom TrSups of Definition 8.1, hence  $\mathcal{F}_3(x,y)$  is a set by Separation. Ditto  $\mathcal{F}_9$ .

As for  $\mathcal{F}_5$ , let  $Y \supseteq x$  be any transitive superset, and  $Z \supseteq Y$  be any finite-closed superset (here FinClo of Definition 8.1 is used). Thus

$$\langle a, b, c \rangle \in x \Longrightarrow a, b, c \in Y$$
, whereas  $a, b, c \in Y \Longrightarrow \langle b, c, a \rangle \in P$ .

We conclude that  $\langle a, b, c \rangle \in x \Longrightarrow \langle b, c, a \rangle \in P$ , hence  $\mathcal{F}_5(x, y)$  is a set by Separation. Ditto  $\mathcal{F}_6, \mathcal{F}_7$ .

Fix  $n \geq 3$ . Let  $\Pi_n$  be the set of all **permutations** of  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Let each  $\pi \in \Pi_n$  naturally act on n-tuples by  $\pi \cdot \langle u_1, \ldots, u_n \rangle = \langle u_{\pi(1)}, \ldots, u_{\pi(n)} \rangle$ . Let

$$f_5 \cdot \langle a, b, c \rangle = \langle c, a, b \rangle, \quad f_6 \cdot \langle a, b, c \rangle = \langle c, b, a \rangle, \quad f_7 \cdot \langle a, b, c \rangle = \langle a, c, b \rangle$$

— then  $\mathcal{F}_i(x,y) = \{f_i \cdot \langle a,b,c \rangle : \langle a,b,c \rangle \in X\}$ , for i = 5,6,7.

Recall that in set theory any n-tuple  $\vec{u} = \langle u_1, \dots, u_n \rangle$  is represented as a triple as  $s = \langle \underbrace{\langle u_1, \dots, u_{n-2} \rangle}_{a}, \underbrace{u_{n-1}}_{b}, \underbrace{u_n}_{c} \rangle$ , see e.g. [8]. Let each  $f_i$  act

on *n*-tuples exactly in the sense of this representation, so that for instance  $f_5 \cdot \langle u_1, \dots, u_n \rangle = \langle u_n, u_1, \dots, u_{n-2}, u_{n-1} \rangle$ .

The next lemma is similar to the penultimate lemma on p. 102 in [13].

**Lemma 11.3.** For any permutation  $\pi \in \Pi_n$  there exists a combination  $f_{\pi}$  of operations  $f_5, f_6, f_7$  satisfying  $f_{\pi} \cdot \langle u_1, \dots, u_n \rangle = \pi \cdot \langle u_1, \dots, u_n \rangle$ .

**Proof.** It clearly suffices to define, for any j = 1, ..., n - 1, a combination  $h_j$  of  $f_5, f_6, f_7$  satisfying

$$h_j \cdot \langle u_1, \dots, u_{j-1}, u_j, u_{j+1}, u_{j+2}, \dots, u_n \rangle = \langle u_1, \dots, u_{j-1}, u_{j+1}, u_j, u_{j+2}, \dots, u_n \rangle.$$

For that purpose, apply  $f_5$ , (n-j-1) times, then  $f_7$ , then again  $f_5$ , (j+1) times, getting the transformation required as follows:

$$\langle u_{j+2}, u_{j+3}, \dots, u_n, u_1, \dots, u_{j-1}, u_j, u_{j+1} \rangle \rightarrow \langle u_{j+2}, u_{j+3}, \dots, u_n, u_1, \dots, u_{j-1}, u_{j+1}, u_j \rangle \rightarrow \langle u_1, \dots, u_{j-1}, u_{j+1}, u_j, u_{j+2}, u_{j+3}, \dots, u_n \rangle.$$

# 12 Gödel closures

We have to be careful in definitions of this notion in  $FTM\omega$ , in the absence of Collection/Replacement. We proceed following the proof of Lemma 8.4.

We argue in  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$ . Given a set Y and a class-function  $\Psi$  with  $\operatorname{dom}\Psi=Y$ , consider the image  $\Psi[Y]=\{\Psi(y)\colon y\in Y\}$ , not assumed to necessarily be a set here. Let  $P_Y$  consist of all pairs  $p=\langle D,f\rangle$ , where D is a finite tree of dyadic tuples, with the root  $\Lambda$  (the empty tuple), f is a function,  $\operatorname{dom} f=T, f(d)\in Y$  for each terminal node  $d\in D$ , and  $f(d)\in\{0,1,\ldots,9\}$  for non-terminal nodes. Note that  $P_Y$  is a set by FinClo and Sep in  $\operatorname{FTM}\omega$ .

If  $p = \langle D, f \rangle \in P_Y$  then define  $p_{\Psi}[d]$  for  $d \in D$  by induction, setting  $p_{\Psi}[d] = \Psi(f(d))$  for each terminal node  $d \in D$ , and  $p_{\Psi}[d] = \mathcal{F}_i(a, b)$  for each non-terminal node d, where i = f(d),  $a = p_{\Psi}[d \cap 0]$ ,  $b = p_{\Psi}[d \cap 1]$ , and  $d \cap 0$ ,  $d \cap 1$  are the immediate successors of d in D. Finally let  $[p]_{\Psi} = p_{\Psi}[\Lambda]$ .

**Definition 12.1** (**FTM** $\omega$ ). Under the assumptions and notation above, put  $GC(\Psi[Y]) = \{[p]_{\Psi} : p \in P_Y\}$ , the Gödel closure of  $\Psi[Y]; \Psi[Y] \subseteq GC(\Psi[Y])$ . We say that  $\Psi[Y]$  is Gödel-closed if  $\Psi[Y] = GC(\Psi[Y])$ .

- (I) As we have the operation  $\mathcal{F}_0(x,y) = \{x,y\}$ , the collection  $GC(\Psi[Y])$  is transitive in case  $\Psi[Y]$  is transitive.
- (II) As we have the operations  $\mathcal{F}_0$  and  $\mathcal{F}_8(x,y) = x \cup y$ , the collection  $GC(\Psi[Y])$  is finite-closed (i.e., contains every finite subset).
- (III) If  $\Psi(y) = y, \forall y$ , then  $\Psi[Y] = Y$ , hence Definition 12.1 provides GC(Y) for any set Y.

Corollary 12.2 (FTM $\omega$ ). Under the assumptions and notation of Definition 12.1, suppose that  $GC(\Psi[Y])$  is transitive. Then:

- $GC(\Psi[Y])$  is a set,
- therefore  $\Psi[Y]$  and  $\Psi$  itself are sets as well by Separation,
- $GC(\Psi[Y])$  is the least Gödel-closed superset of  $\Psi[Y]$ .

In particular, (1) if Y is any set and GC(Y) is transitive then GC(Y) is a set, (2) if Y is transitive then so is GC(Y), (3) if Y is any set then GC(Y) is a set, and (4) GC(Y) is a finite-closed set.

**Proof.** Apply Lemma 10.2 for X = P and F(p) = [p] as in Definition 12.1. The particular case is handled by (I)–(III). To prove (3), let  $Y' \supseteq Y$  be a transitive superset by TrSups of FTM $\omega$ . Then GC(Y') is transitive by (2) and a set by (1), and finally  $GC(Y) \subseteq GC(Y')$  is a set by Separation.  $\square$ 

### 13 Definability in Gödel-closed domains

The next lemma will be of principal importance in the development of Gödel constructibility under the axioms of  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$  in the remainder.

**Lemma 13.1** (FTM $\omega$ ). If U is a transitive and Gödel-closed set or class,  $X \in U$  is transitive and Gödel-closed, and a set  $Y \subseteq X$  is  $\in$ -definable over X, possibly with parameters  $p \in X$ . Then  $Y \in U$ .

**Proof.** The proof runs essentially along the lines of the proof of [8, Lemma 31], or of [13, Theorem on p. 103]. We begin with the parameter-free case. Given an  $\in$ -formula  $\varphi(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ , we have to prove that

$$Y = Y_{\varphi} = \{ \langle x_1, \dots, x_n \rangle \in X^n : \varphi^X(x_1, \dots, x_n) \} \in U,$$
 (6)

where  $\varphi^X$  is the relativization to X. This goes on by induction. Suppose that  $\varphi(x_1,\ldots,x_n)$  is  $x_i \in x_j$ ,  $1 \le i \ne j \le n$ . (We allow dummy variables.) By Lemma 11.3, it can be w.l.o.g. assumed that i=1 and j=2. Then

$$Y = Y_1 \times X^{n-2} = \mathcal{F}_1(Y_1, \underbrace{\mathcal{F}_1(X, \mathcal{F}_1(X, \mathcal{F}_1(X, \dots (\mathcal{F}_1(X, X)) \dots))}_{n-2 \text{ times } X}),$$

where

$$Y_1 = \{\langle x_1, x_2 \rangle \in X^2 : x_1 \in x_2\} = \mathcal{F}_4(X^2, X) = \mathcal{F}_4(\mathcal{F}_1(X, X), X) \in U.$$

This implies  $Y \in U$  since U is Gödel-closed.

The case of  $\varphi$  being  $x_i = x_j$  is handled with  $\mathcal{F}_9$  instead of  $\mathcal{F}_4$ .

The inductive step  $\neg$  is easy:  $Y_{\neg \varphi} = X^n \setminus Y_{\varphi}$ , and use  $\mathcal{F}_2$ .

Similarly,  $Y_{\varphi \wedge \psi} = Y_{\varphi} \cap Y_{\psi}$ , and we can use  $\mathcal{F}_2$  as  $A \cap B = A \setminus (A \setminus B)$ . In this argument, it is assumed that  $\varphi, \psi$  have the same list of free variables, which can be easily arranged by suitably adding dummy variables to all elementary subformulas of  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$ .

Let finally  $\varphi(x_1,\ldots,x_n)$  be  $\exists x_{n+1} \psi(y,x_1,\ldots,x_n,x_{n+1})$ , and accordingly  $Y_{\psi} \subseteq X^{n+1}$  belongs to U. Then  $Y_{\varphi} = \text{dom} Y_{\psi} = \mathcal{F}_3(Y_{\psi},Y_{\psi}) \in U$ .

This ends the parameter-free case.

Now consider the case of parameters allowed. Given an  $\in$ -formula  $\varphi(x_1,\ldots,x_n,p_0)$ , where  $p_0 \in X$  is a parameter, we have to prove that

$$Y = Y_{\varphi} = \{ \langle x_1, \dots, x_n, p_0 \rangle \in X^n : \varphi^X(x_1, \dots, x_n, p_0) \} \in U.$$
 (7)

It follows from the above that the parameter-free definable set

$$Z = \{ \langle x_1, \dots, x_n, p \rangle \in X^{n+1} : \varphi^X(x_1, \dots, x_n, p) \}$$

belongs to U. So does the set  $P = X^n \times \{p_0\}$  (operations  $\mathcal{F}_0, \mathcal{F}_1$ ). Then the set  $Q = Z \cap P = Z \setminus (Z \setminus P)$  (operation  $\mathcal{F}_2$ ) belongs to U as well. Finally  $Y = \operatorname{dom} Q \in U$  (operation  $\mathcal{F}_3$ ), and this completes the proof.  $\square$ 

# 14 Constructible sets in the intermediate theory

We make use of the constructible hierarchy as presented in [8]:

$$\mathbf{L}_{0} = \varnothing,$$

$$\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} = \operatorname{GC}(\{\mathbf{L}_{\gamma}: \gamma < \alpha\}) \text{ for all } \alpha \geq 1,$$

$$\mathbf{L} = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \operatorname{Ord}} \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} = \text{all constructible sets.}$$
(8)

First of all we have to prove that this construction is legitimate in  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$ . The standard reference to  $\mathbf{ZF}$  transfinite recursion does not work as it is based on the Collection/Replacement schemata. Therefore we have to legitimize construction (8) in  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$  at a more basic level.

For that purpose, let's say that a set f is a  $\lambda$ -constructing sequence,  $\lambda$ -ConSeq for brevity, where  $\lambda \in Ord$ , if f is a function,  $dom f = \lambda$ ,  $f(0) = \emptyset$ , and  $f(\alpha) = GC(\{\mathbf{L}_{\gamma} : \gamma < \alpha\})$  for all  $1 \le \alpha < \lambda$ . Thus  $\mathbb{f}_{\lambda} = \langle \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \rangle_{\alpha < \lambda}$  is the only  $\lambda$ -ConSeq (if exists) in the **FTM** $\omega$  universe.

**Lemma 14.1** (FTM $\omega$ ). If  $\lambda \in \text{Ord then a } \lambda\text{-}ConSeq \ exists \ (as \ a \ set) \ and is unique. In addition:$ 

- (i) if  $\alpha \in \text{Ord then } \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  is a transitive Gödel-closed set;
- (ii) L is a transitive Gödel-closed class;
- (iii) if  $\gamma < \alpha$  then  $\mathbf{L}_{\gamma} \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  and  $\mathbf{L}_{\gamma} \subseteq \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$ .

**Proof.** The ordinals are well-ordered in **FTM** $\omega$  by the Regularity axiom, hence the usual proof of the uniqueness of  $\lambda$ -ConSeq holds. To prove the existence, suppose to the contrary that  $\lambda$ -ConSeq exist not for all  $\lambda \in \text{Ord}$ , and let  $\lambda$  be the least ordinal of such kind. (Recall that Ord is well-ordered.) Thus a unique  $\alpha$ -ConSeq  $\mathbb{F}_{\alpha}$  exists for every  $\alpha < \lambda$ , and  $\alpha \leq \beta \Longrightarrow \mathbb{F}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathbb{F}_{\beta}$ .

Case 1:  $\lambda = \alpha + 1$ . Then  $\mathbb{F}_{\alpha}$  is a set by the choice of  $\lambda$ , and  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} = GC(\mathbb{F}_{\alpha})$  is a set as well by Corollary 12.2, hence  $\mathbb{F}_{\lambda} = \mathbb{F}_{\alpha} \cup \{\langle \alpha, \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \rangle\}$  is a set and a  $\lambda$ -ConSeq, which is a contradiction.

Case 2:  $\lambda$  is limit. We consistently define  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} = \mathbb{F}_{\alpha+1}(\alpha)$  for all  $\alpha < \lambda$ . Then  $\mathbb{F}_{\lambda} = \bigcup_{\alpha < \lambda} \mathbb{F}_{\alpha} = \langle \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \rangle_{\alpha < \lambda}$  would be a  $\lambda$ -ConSeq, yet we don't know yet that it is a set. To prove this fact, let's prove (i) by induction below  $\lambda$ . Thus assume that  $\alpha < \lambda$  and let all  $\mathbf{L}_{\gamma}$ ,  $\gamma < \alpha$  be transitive sets.

Subcase 2A:  $\alpha = \gamma + 1$ . Then, as  $\mathbf{L}_{\gamma} = \mathrm{GC}(\{\mathbf{L}_{\xi} : \xi < \gamma\})$ , we have  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} = \mathrm{GC}(\mathbf{L}_{\gamma} \cup \{\mathbf{L}_{\gamma}\})$ . But  $\mathbf{L}_{\gamma}$  is transitive by the inductive hypothesis, hence so is  $Y = \mathbf{L}_{\gamma} \cup \{\mathbf{L}_{\gamma}\}$ , and then so is  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} = \mathrm{GC}(Y)$  by Corollary 12.2.

Subcase 2B:  $\alpha$  is limit. Then, by construction,

$$\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} = GC(\{\mathbf{L}_{\gamma}: \gamma < \alpha\}) = \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} GC(\{\mathbf{L}_{\xi}: \xi < \gamma\}) = \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \mathbf{L}_{\gamma}$$
 (9)

is transitive by the inductive hypothesis.

Thus indeed all  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha < \lambda$ , are transitive sets. Then yet again by (9)  $\mathbf{L}_{\lambda} = \mathrm{GC}(\{\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}: \alpha < \lambda\}) = \bigcup_{\alpha < \lambda} \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  is transitive, and hence, by Corollary 12.2, both  $\mathbf{L}_{\lambda}$  and  $\mathbb{f}_{\lambda}$  are sets, which contradicts the choice of  $\lambda$ .

From the contradictions obtained in cases 1 and 2, we conclude that  $\mathbb{F}_{\lambda}$  exists for all  $\lambda \in \text{Ord}$ , and hence  $\mathbf{L}_{\lambda} = \mathbb{F}_{\lambda+1}(\lambda)$  is well-defined, as required.

Claim (i) has been already established, (ii) is a consequence of (i), and claim (iii) is rather obvious.  $\Box$ 

As a by-product of the proof, we can present the inductive step in (8) in the following somewhat more familiar form:

$$\mathbf{L}_{\gamma+1} = GC(\mathbf{L}_{\gamma} \cup \{\mathbf{L}_{\gamma}\}), \text{ and } \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} = \bigcup_{\gamma < \alpha} \mathbf{L}_{\gamma} \text{ for all limit } \alpha.$$
 (10)

What kind of set theory L supports in  $FTM\omega$ ?

**Lemma 14.2** (FTM $\omega$ ). All axioms of  $\mathbf{Z}^-$ , minus Sep, hold in  $\mathbf{L}$  and in any set  $\mathbf{L}_{\lambda}$ , where  $\lambda \in \text{Ord}$  is limit.

**Proof** (sketch). This does not differ from the full-**ZF** case. Consider e.g. the Union axiom. Let  $X \in \mathbf{L}$ , so that  $X \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha \in \text{Ord}$ . As  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  is transitive, the union  $Y = \bigcup X \subseteq \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  is definable over  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$ , hence  $Y \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1}$  by Lemma 13.1.

The schemata of Replacement/Collection are not necessarily true in L (defined in a  $FTM\omega$  universe), as the next example shows.

**Example 14.3.** Arguing in the full  $\mathbf{ZF}$ , let  $L = \mathbf{L}_{\vartheta}$ , where  $\vartheta = (\aleph_{\omega})^{\mathbf{L}}$ . Let V be the extension of L by ajoining a generic sequence of (generic) maps  $f_n : \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} (\aleph_n)^{\mathbf{L}}$ . Then V is a model of  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$ . However  $(\mathbf{L})^V = L$ , and  $\mathsf{Repl}/\mathsf{Coll}$  definitely fail in L.

The Separation schema remains an open problem in this context. On the one hand, Sep holds (unlike Repl/Coll) in L of Example 14.3. On the other hand, we are not able to prove in  $\mathbf{FTM}\omega$  that Sep holds in  $\mathbf{L}$ .

Anyway, we conclude from Example 14.3 that the class **L** alone does not lead to the proof of Theorem 10.1 in  $FTM\omega$ . To explore the second option in Theorem 10.1, we still need some technical developments.

# 15 Definability and well-ordering

Following Section 11 in [8], consider the formula:

$$C(\lambda, z) := \lambda \in \text{Ord} \wedge \exists f (f \text{ is a } (\lambda + 1) - \text{ConSeq} \wedge z = f(\lambda)).$$

Let  $C^K(\lambda, z)$  be the formal relativization to a given set or class K, i.e., each quantifier  $\exists x \text{ or } \forall x \text{ is replaced with resp. } \exists x \in K, \forall x \in K.$ 

Theorem 15.1 (FTM
$$\omega$$
).  $\mathfrak{A}$ :  $\langle \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \rangle_{\alpha \in \text{Ord}} = \{ \langle \alpha, z \rangle \in \mathbf{L} : C^{\mathbf{L}}(\alpha, z) \}$ .  
If  $\lambda \in \text{Ord}$  is limit then  $\mathfrak{A}_{\lambda} : \langle \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \rangle_{\alpha < \lambda} = \{ \langle \alpha, z \rangle \in \mathbf{L}_{\lambda} : C^{\mathbf{L}_{\lambda}}(\alpha, z) \}$ .

In other words, the whole hierarchy  $\langle \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \rangle_{\alpha \in Ord}$  is  $\in$ -definable over  $\mathbf{L}$ , whereas if  $\lambda$  is limit then  $\langle \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \rangle_{\alpha < \lambda}$  is  $\in$ -definable over  $\mathbf{L}_{\lambda}$ .

**Proof.** We will establish the following:

- 1°. (a) If  $\forall \alpha (\mathbb{F}_{\alpha} \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1})$ , then  $\mathfrak{A}$ .
  - (b) If  $\lambda$  is a limit ordinal and  $\forall \alpha < \lambda (\mathbb{F}_{\alpha} \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1})$ , then  $\mathfrak{A}_{\lambda}$ .
- 2°. If  $\lambda$  is a limit ordinal and  $\mathfrak{A}_{\lambda}$  holds, then  $\mathfrak{f}_{\lambda} \in \mathbf{L}_{\lambda+1}$ .

3°. If  $\mathbb{f}_{\alpha} \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1}$  then  $\mathbb{f}_{\alpha+1} \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+2}$ .

Proof of 1°. We prove (a) only; the proof of (b) is similar. Lemma 14.1(ii) implies, by the definition of GC, that if  $x, y \in \mathbf{L}$ , then

$$y = GC(x) \iff GC(x) \in \mathbf{L} \land (y = GC(x))^{\mathbf{L}}.$$

It follows (note the operation  $\mathcal{F}_3$ ) that

$$f$$
 is a  $\lambda$ -ConSeq  $\iff$   $(f$  is a  $\lambda$ -ConSeq)<sup>L</sup>

for each  $\lambda \in \mathbf{L}$ . This implies  $1^{\circ}$ a, as required.

Proof of  $2^{\circ}$ . Indeed,  $\mathfrak{A}_{\lambda}$  says that  $\mathbb{I}_{\lambda}$  is a class in  $\mathbf{L}_{\lambda}$ . Then it remains to apply Lemma 13.1 with  $U = \mathbf{L}_{\lambda+1}$  and  $X = \mathbf{L}_{\lambda}$ .

Proof of 3°. Indeed, we have, on the one hand, that  $\mathbb{f}_{\alpha+1} = \mathbb{f}_{\alpha} \cup \{\langle \alpha, \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \rangle\}$ , and therefore  $\mathbb{f}_{\alpha+1}$  is obtained from  $\mathbb{f}_{\alpha}$  and  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  by composing the operations  $\mathcal{F}_0$ ,  $\mathcal{F}_3$ ,  $\mathcal{F}_8$ . On the other hand,  $\mathbb{f}_{\alpha} \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1}$ , and  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1}$  by Lemma 14.1. But  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1} \subseteq \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+2}$  and  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha+2}$  is Gödel-closed.

It is now evident how to use Propositions 1°, 2°, 3° and transfinite induction to prove  $\mathbb{F}_{\alpha} \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1}$  for all  $\alpha$ ,  $\mathfrak{A}_{\lambda}$  for all limit  $\lambda$ , and  $\mathfrak{A}$ .

Now let us prove the following theorem about the well-ordering of the class  $\mathbf{L}$  of all constructible sets, and of the sets  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathbf{L}$ .

**Theorem 15.2** (FTM $\omega$ ). There exists a well-ordering  $<_{\mathbf{L}}$  of the class  $\mathbf{L}$ ,  $\in$  -definable over  $\mathbf{L}$ , and such that if  $\lambda \in \mathrm{Ord}$  is limit, then

- (1)  $\mathbf{L}_{\lambda}$  is an initial segment of  $\mathbf{L}$  in the sense of  $<_{\mathbf{L}}$ , and
- (2) the restricted well-ordering  $<_{\mathbf{L}}^{\lambda} = <_{\mathbf{L}} \upharpoonright \mathbf{L}_{\lambda}$  is  $\in$ -definable over  $\mathbf{L}_{\lambda}$ .

**Proof.** We prove only the first claim; the claim related  $\mathbf{L}_{\lambda}$  is pretty similar. If  $\alpha \in \text{Ord}$  and  $k < \omega$  then, arguing in  $\mathbf{L}$ , we define a set  $M_k^{\alpha} \subseteq \mathbf{L}$ , and an auxiliary well-ordering  $\prec_k^{\alpha}$  of  $M_k^{\alpha}$ , by induction.

Put  $M_0^{\alpha} = \{\mathbf{L}_{\gamma} : \gamma < \alpha\}$  (a definable class by Theorem 15.1). Define  $\mathbf{L}_{\gamma} \prec_0^{\alpha} \mathbf{L}_{\delta}$  iff just  $\gamma < \delta$ .

Now suppose that  $M_k^{\alpha}$  and  $\prec_k^{\alpha}$  have been defined. Put

$$M_{k+1}^\alpha = \left\{ \langle a,b,i \rangle \colon a,b \in M_k^\alpha \wedge i \leq 9 \right\}.$$

Define  $\prec_{k+1}^{\alpha}$  on  $M_{k+1}^{\alpha}$  to be the lexicographical order, where the first two co-ordinates are ordered by  $\prec_k^{\alpha}$ , and the last one — by the order on integers.

If  $p \in M^{\alpha} = \bigcup_{k} M_{k}^{\alpha}$  then define a set  $F^{\alpha}(p)$  by induction on k so that

$$F^{\alpha}(p) = \begin{cases} \mathbf{L}_{\gamma} &, \text{ in case} \quad p = \mathbf{L}_{\gamma} \in M_0^{\alpha} \ (\gamma < \alpha); \\ \mathcal{F}_i(F^{\alpha}(a), F^{\alpha}(b)) &, \text{ in case} \quad p = \langle a, b, i \rangle \in M_{k+1}^{\alpha}. \end{cases}$$
(11)

Thus  $F^{\alpha}$  is a definable class-function  $M^{\alpha} \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  by (8). If  $x \in \mathbf{L}$  then:

let  $\alpha(x)$  be the least  $\alpha$  for which  $x = F^{\alpha}(p)$  for some  $p \in M^{\alpha}$ ,

let k(x) be the least k for which  $x = F^{\alpha(x)}(p)$  for some  $p \in M_k^{\alpha(x)}$ , let p(x) be the  $\prec_k^{\alpha}$ -least  $p \in M_{k(x)}^{\alpha(x)}$  satisfying  $x = F^{\alpha(x)}(p)$ .

Now we introduce the required ordering on L by putting  $x <_{\mathbf{L}} y$  if

$$\alpha(x) < \alpha(y)$$
, or

$$\alpha(x) = \alpha(y) \wedge k(x) < k(y)$$
, or

$$\alpha(x) = \alpha(y) \land k(x) = k(y) \land p(x) \prec_{k(x)}^{\alpha(x)} p(y).$$

It's quite clear that  $<_{\mathbf{L}}$  is really a well-ordering of the class  $\mathbf{L}$ , definable over L, with each  $L_{\alpha}$  being an initial segment of L. The details are left to the reader.

#### 16 Subclass L\*

Coming back to Theorem 10.1, we know already that the  $FTM\omega$  axioms do not fix the universe L to necessarily satisfying Collection/Replacement by Example 14.3. To still get a model satisfying Sep and even Coll based on constructible sets in  $FTM\omega$ , let us consider the collection of ordinals

$$\Omega = \{ \alpha \in \operatorname{Ord} : \forall \gamma \leq \alpha, \gamma \geq 1 \,\exists \, f \in \mathbf{L}_{\gamma+1}(f : \omega \xrightarrow{\operatorname{onto}} \mathbf{L}_{\gamma}) \}.$$

This definition distinguishes ordinals  $\alpha$  which hereditarily (i.e. also for all smaller ordinals) satisfy the property that  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$  is countable in  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1}$ . Similar ideas (for instance, the notion of a gap ordinal) are known in the studies of constructibility since 1970s, see e.g. [11, 12].

Let 
$$\mathbf{L}^* = \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Omega} \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$$
.

**Lemma 16.1** (FTM $\omega$ ). Either (I)  $\Omega = \text{Ord}$ , and then  $\mathbf{L}^* = \mathbf{L}$ , or (II)  $\Omega \in \text{Ord } is \ a \ limit \ ordinal, \ and \ then \ \mathbf{L}^* = \mathbf{L}_{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** Clearly  $0 \in \Omega$ . To prove that  $1 \in \Omega$ , define a recursive bijection  $b: \omega \times \omega \times \{0, \dots, 9\} \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \omega$  by  $b(m, n, i) = 10(2^m(2n+1)-1)+i$ . Define by induction  $h(0) = \emptyset$ , and if k = b(m, n, i) > 0 (then m, n < k) then put  $h(k) = \mathcal{F}_i(h(m), (h(n)))$ . Then ran  $h = \mathbf{L}_1$  = all sets of finite rank, and  $h \in \mathbf{L}_2$  by Lemma 13.1, as h is definable over  $\mathbf{L}_1$ .

It remains to prove that  $\alpha \in \Omega \Longrightarrow (\alpha + 1) \in \Omega$  for any  $\alpha \geq 1$ . By the hypothesis, there is a function  $f \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1}$ ,  $f : \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1}$ . Put  $h(0) = \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$ , h(2n+2)=f(n) for all n, and if k=b(m,n,i) (see above about b), then

 $h(2k+1) = \mathcal{F}_i(h(m), (h(n)).$  Thus  $h : \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1} = \text{GC}(\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} \cup \{\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}\}).$  However h is definable in  $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha+1}$ , hence  $h \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha+2}$  by Lemma 13.1.

We let  $<^*$  be  $<_{\mathbf{L}}$  in case  $\Omega = \operatorname{Ord}$ , and be  $<_{\mathbf{L}} \upharpoonright \mathbf{L}_{\Omega}$  in case  $\Omega \in \operatorname{Ord}$ .

Corollary 16.2 (FTM $\omega$ ). All axioms of  $\mathbb{Z}^-$ , minus Sep, hold in  $\mathbb{L}^*$ .

The axiom Countability := "all sets are countable" also holds in  $\mathbf{L}^*$ . <\* is a well-ordering of  $\mathbf{L}^*$  definable over  $\mathbf{L}^*$ .

**Proof.** Use Lemma 14.2 and Theorem 15.2.

# 17 Check the schemata

The final step in the proof of Theorems 10.1 and 1.1 will be to verify the Separation and Collection schemata in  $L^*$ . The following lemma is the crucial step; the rest of the verification of Sep and Coll via the reflection principle will be pretty standard.

**Lemma 17.1** (FTM $\omega$ ). Let  $F:\omega\to\Omega$  be a class-function definable over  $\mathbf{L}^*$ . Then the collection ran  $F=\{F(j):j<\omega\}$  is bounded in  $\Omega$ , i.e., ran  $F\subseteq\rho$  for some limit  $\rho\in\Omega$ .

**Proof.** Assume towards the contrary that  $\operatorname{ran} F$  is unbounded. Then  $\mathbf{L}^* = \bigcup_{n < \omega} \mathbf{L}_{F(n)}$ . For any n, let  $h_n$  be the  $<^*$ -least of the functions  $h \in \mathbf{L}^*$  with  $\operatorname{dom} h = \omega$  and  $\mathbf{L}_{F(n)} \subseteq \operatorname{ran} h$ . (Such functions exist by the definition of  $\Omega$ .) Now if  $k = 2^n(2m+1) - 1$ , then we put  $G(k) = h_n(m)$ .

It follows by the choice of  $h_n$  that G is a class-function from  $\omega$  onto  $\mathbf{L}^*$ . Moreover, G is definable in  $\mathbf{L}^*$  as such are F and  $<^*$ . We conclude that the class  $\mathbf{L}^*$  is a set by Lemma 10.2 since  $\mathbf{L}^* = \operatorname{ran} F$  is transitive, hence  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbf{L}^*$  is a set as well by Sep. This immediately contradicts the case  $\Omega = \operatorname{Ord}$  since  $\operatorname{Ord}$  is not a set even in  $\mathbf{Z}^-$ .

This  $\Omega$  is a limit ordinal. Then  $\mathbf{L}^* = \mathbf{L}_{\Omega}$ , and we have  $G \in \mathbf{L}_{\Omega+1}$  by Lemma 13.1. It follows that  $\Omega \in \Omega$ , which is a contradiction.

Corollary 17.2 (FTM $\omega$ ). Let  $X \in \mathbf{L}^*$  and  $G: X \to \mathbf{L}^*$  be a class-function definable over  $\mathbf{L}^*$ . Then the collection  $\operatorname{ran} G = \{G(x) : x \in X\}$  satisfies  $\operatorname{ran} G \subseteq \mathbf{L}_{\rho}$  for some limit  $\rho \in \Omega$ .

**Proof.** Let  $f \in \mathbf{L}^*$ ,  $f : \omega \xrightarrow{\text{onto}} X$  by Countability. Apply Lemma 17.1 for  $F(k) = \text{the least } \alpha \in \Omega \text{ satisfying } G(f(k)) \in \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$ .

Corollary 17.3 (FTM $\omega$ , fixed point theorem). Let  $\alpha \in \Omega$ ,  $m < \omega$ , and  $G_1, \ldots, G_m : \mathbf{L}^* \to \mathbf{L}^*$  are class-functions definable over  $\mathbf{L}^*$ , then there is a limit ordinal  $\beta \in \Omega$ ,  $\beta > \alpha$ , satisfying  $G_k[\mathbf{L}_{\beta}] \subseteq \mathbf{L}_{\beta}$  for all  $k = 1, \ldots, m$ .

**Proof.** Put  $G(x) = \langle G_1(x), \ldots, G_m(x) \rangle$ . Use Corollary 17.2 to get a class-sequence  $\alpha = \alpha_0 < \alpha_1 < \alpha_2 < \ldots$  of ordinals in  $\Omega$  satisfying  $G[\mathbf{L}_{\alpha_n}] \subseteq \mathbf{L}_{\alpha_{n+1}}$ . Apply Lemma 17.1 to make sure that  $\beta = \sup_n \alpha_n \in \Omega$ .

An ordinal  $\beta \in \Omega$  reflects a parameter-free formula  $\varphi(x_1,\ldots,x_n)$ , if the equivalence  $\varphi^{\mathbf{L}^*}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) \Longleftrightarrow \varphi^{\mathbf{L}_{\beta}}(x_1,\ldots,x_n)$  holds for all  $x_j \in \mathbf{L}_{\beta}$ . The following is a standard consequence of Corollary 17.3.

**Theorem 17.4** (FTM $\omega$ , reflection). Let  $\alpha \in \Omega$  and  $\varphi$  is a parameter-free formula then there exists a limit ordinal  $\beta \in \Omega$ ,  $\beta > \alpha$  which reflects  $\varphi$  and every subformula of  $\varphi$ .

**Proof** (sketch). We w.l.o.g. assume that  $\varphi$  does not contain  $\forall$  (otherwise replace  $\forall$  with  $\neg \exists \neg$ ). Let's enumerate  $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n$  all the sub-formulas of  $\varphi$  (including possibly  $\varphi$  itself) beginning with  $\exists$ . If  $k \leq n$  then we define a class-function  $G_k$  as follows.

Assume that  $k \leq n$  and  $\psi_k$  is  $\exists y \, \chi_k(y, x_1, \dots, x_m)$ . Suppose that  $p = \langle x_1, \dots, x_m \rangle \in \mathbf{L}^*$  and there exists  $y \in \mathbf{L}^*$  satisfying  $\chi_k^{\mathbf{L}^*}(y, x_1, \dots, x_m)$ . Then let  $G_k(p)$  be the  $<^*$ -least of these y. Otherwise let  $G_k(p) = \emptyset$ . Each class-function  $G_k$  is definable in  $\mathbf{L}^*$  since such is the ordering  $<^*$ .

By Theorem 17.4, there is an ordinal  $\beta \in \Omega$ ,  $\beta > \alpha$ , satisfying  $G_k[\mathbf{L}_{\beta}] \subseteq \mathbf{L}_{\beta}$  for all k = 1, ..., n. Now it easily goes by induction on the number of logical symbols that  $\beta$  reflects every subformula of  $\varphi$ , in particular it reflects  $\varphi$  itself, as required.

Corollary 17.5 (FTM $\omega$ ). Separation and Collection hold in  $L^*$ . Therefore  $\mathbf{ZFC}^-$  as a whole holds in  $L^*$  by Corollary 16.2.

**Proof.** Separation. Assume that  $\varphi(x,y)$  is a parameter-free formula,  $\alpha \in \Omega$ ,  $p \in X = \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$ . We have to prove that  $Y = \{x \in X : \varphi^{\mathbf{L}^*}(x,p)\} \in \mathbf{L}^*$ . Let, by Theorem 17.4, an ordinal  $\beta \in \Omega$ ,  $\beta > \alpha$  reflect  $\varphi(x,y)$ , so that

$$Y = \{x \in X : \varphi^{\mathbf{L}_{\beta}}(x, p)\}.$$

Then  $X \in \mathbf{L}_{\beta}$  by Lemma 13.1, as required.

Collection. Assume that  $\varphi(x, y, z)$  is a parameter-free formula,  $\alpha \in \Omega$ ,  $p \in X = \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$ , and we have  $\forall x \in X \exists y \in \mathbf{L}^* \varphi^{\mathbf{L}^*}(x, y, p)$ . By Theorem 17.4, there exists an ordinal  $\beta \in \Omega$ ,  $\beta > \alpha$  which reflects  $\exists y \varphi(x, y, z)$ , with all its subformulas, including  $\varphi(x, y, z)$ , so that

 $\forall x \in X \exists y \in \mathbf{L}_{\beta} \varphi^{\mathbf{L}_{\beta}}(x, y, p), \text{ and } \forall x \in X \exists y \in \mathbf{L}_{\beta} \varphi^{\mathbf{L}^{*}}(x, y, p),$  as required.  $\Box$  **Proof** (Theorem 10.1). Make use of Corollary 17.5.  $\Box$  **Proof** (Theorem 1.1). Make use of Corollary 9.3 and Theorem 10.1.  $\Box$ 

### 18 Conclusions and problems

In this study, the methods of second-order arithmetic and set theory were employed to giving a full and self-contained proof of the formal equiconsistency of such theories as second-order arithmetic  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$  and Zermelo–Fraenkel  $\mathbf{ZFC}^-$  sans the Power Set axiom (Theorem 1.1).

The following problems arise from our study.

**Problem 18.1.** In spite of Example 14.3, is it true in **FTM** $\omega$  that **L** satisfies Separation? The positive answer implies that  $\mathscr{P}(\omega) \cap \mathbf{L}$  is a model of  $\mathbf{PA}_2^-$ , and hence even of full  $\mathbf{PA}_2$  because  $\mathsf{AC}_\omega$  is provided by  $<_{\mathbf{L}}$ . This would lead to an interpretation of  $\mathbf{ZFC}^-$  by Remark 9.4, and would provide another proof of Theorem 1.1.

**Problem 18.2.** The nature of the set or class  $\mathbf{L}^*$  of Section 16 remains not fully clear. In **ZFC**, obviously  $\Omega \subseteq \omega_1$  is an ordinal, and accordingly  $\mathbf{L}^* \subseteq \mathbf{L}_{\omega_1}$  is definitely a set. What about the possibility of the equality and of the strict inclusion  $\subseteq$  in this relation?

**Acknowledgement.** The authors are thankful to Ali Enayat, Gunter Fuchs, Victoria Gitman, and Kameryn Williams, for their enlightening comments that made it possible to accomplish this research, and separately Ali Enayat for references to [14] in matters of Theorem 1.1.

# References

- [1] Carolin Antos and Victoria Gitman. Modern class forcing. In A. Daghighi, A. Rezus, M. Pourmahdian, D. Gabbay, and M. Fitting, editors, *Research Trends in Contemporary Logic*. College Publications, forthcoming. PhilArchive LINK, accessed: 2022-12-06.
- [2] Krysztof R. Apt and W. Marek. Second order arithmetic and related topics. *Ann. Math. Logic*, 6:177–229, 1974.
- [3] Keith J. Devlin. *Constructibility*. Perspect. Log. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; Urbana, IL: Association for Symbolic Logic (ASL), reprint of the 1984 original published by Springer edition, 2016.
- [4] Harvey Friedman. On the necessary use of abstract set theory. Advances in Mathematics, 41(3):209–280, 1981.
- [5] Victoria Gitman, Joel David Hamkins, and Thomas A. Johnstone. What is the theory ZFC without power set? *Math. Log. Q.*, 62(4-5):391–406, 2016.
- [6] Victoria Gitman and Richard Matthews. ZFC without power set II: Reflection strikes back. Fundam. Math., 264(2):149–178, 2023.

- [7] Thomas Jech. Set theory. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, The third millennium revised and expanded edition, 2003. Pages xiii + 769.
- [8] Thomas J. Jech. Lectures in set theory with particular emphasis on the method of forcing, volume 217. Springer, Cham, 1971.
- [9] Vladimir Kanovei. Interpretation of ZFC in 2nd order Peano arithmetic. Mathoverflow, https://mathoverflow.net/questions/436107, 2022. Accessed: 2025-04-26.
- [10] Georg Kreisel. A survey of proof theory. J. Symb. Log., 33:321–388, 1968.
- [11] W. Marek.  $\omega$ -models of second order arithmetic and admissible sets. Fundam. Math., 98:103–120, 1978.
- [12] W. Marek and M. Srebrny. Gaps in the constructible universe. *Ann. Math. Logic*, 6:359–394, 1974.
- [13] Cohen P.J. Set theory and the continuum-hypothesis. "Benjamin", NY, Amsterdam, 1966.
- [14] Thomas Schindler. A disquotational theory of truth as strong as  $\mathbb{Z}_2^-$ . J. Philos. Log., 44(4):395–410, 2015.
- [15] Stephen G. Simpson. Subsystems of second order arithmetic. Perspectives in Logic. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; Urbana, IL: ASL, 2nd edition, 2009. Pages xvi + 444.
- [16] Andrzej M. Zarach. Replacement → collection. In Gödel '96. Logical foundations of mathematics, computer science and physics – Kurt Gödel's legacy. Proceedings of a conference, Brno, Czech Republic, August 1996, pages 307– 322. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1996.

# Index

axiom Countability, 12	$egin{aligned} \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{PA}_2), 3 \ \mathcal{L}(\mathbf{dPA}_2^-), 4 \end{aligned}$		
Mostowski collapse, MostColl, 12 finite-closure, FinClo, 12	ordinals, $\Omega$ , $\frac{24}{}$		
transitive superset, TrSups, $12$ $b$ , standard bijection, $4$	reflects, $\frac{26}{1}$ relation $\approx$ , $\frac{7}{1}$ relation $\approx$ , $\frac{7}{1}$		
class $\mathbf{L}^*$ , 24 class-function, 16 constructing sequence, $\lambda$ -ConSeq, 20 digraph, 4 $ A  = \operatorname{dom} A \cup \operatorname{ran} A$ , the domain, 4	relativization, 22 relativization $\varphi^X$ , 19 restriction $A \downarrow \{u\}$ , cone restriction, 5 $A \downarrow X$ , multi restriction, 8		
directed graph on $\omega$ , 4 $\mathbf{Elm}_A(u)$ , $A$ -elements of $u$ , 4 $\mathbf{Elm}(A)$ , $A$ -elements of $\widehat{A}$ , 5 extensional, 5 isomorphism, $A \cong B$ , 6 map $H_{AB}$ , 6 digraphs $\underline{n}$ , $\omega$ , 8 $\mathbf{Con}_A\{u\}$ , lower cone, 5	$\mathbb{S} \models \lceil \Phi \rceil$ , 7 set  A-transitive, 5 constructible, $\mathbf{L}^*$ , 24 constructible, $\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}$ , $\mathbf{L}$ , 20 finite closure, $\mathrm{FC}(\cdot)$ , 12 finite-closed, 12 transitive, 12		
$A \downarrow \{u\}$ , cone restriction, 5 $A \downarrow X$ , multi restriction, 8 $\widehat{A}$ , vertex, 5 vertex, 5 WF, well-founded, 5 WFE, well-founded, extensional, 5	transitive closure, $TC(\cdot)$ , 12 structure $S = \langle WFEV; \cong, \widetilde{\in} \rangle$ , 7 $\mathbf{Con}_A\{u\}$ , lower cone, 5 theory $\mathbf{FTM}\boldsymbol{\omega}$ , intermediate, 12		
WFEV, WFE and vertex, 5 $\mathbf{Elm}_{A}(u)$ , A-elements of $u$ , 4 $\mathbf{Elm}(A)$ , A-elements of $\widehat{A}$ , 5	$egin{array}{c} \mathbf{P}\mathbf{A}_2,3 \\ \mathbf{d}\mathbf{P}\mathbf{A}_2^-,4 \\ \mathbf{P}\mathbf{A}_2^-,4 \\ \mathbf{Z}^-,12 \end{array}$		
finite closure, $FC(\cdot)$ , 12 finite-closed, 12	$\mathbf{ZFC}^-$ , 11 $\mathbf{ZF}^-$ , 12 transitive, 12		
Gödel closure, $GC(\cdot)$ , 18 Gödel-closed collection, 18 Gödel operations $\mathcal{F}_i$ , 17	transitive closure, $TC(\cdot)$ , 12 well-ordering, $<_{\mathbf{L}}$ , $<_{\mathbf{L}}^{\lambda}$ , 23 well-ordering $<^*$ , 25		
image, $\Psi[Y]$ , 18			
language			